MINUTES

JOINT COMMITTEE ON PAROLE BOARD OVERSIGHT

November 10, 2009 Room 446-N—Statehouse

Members Present

Representative Pat Colloton, Chairperson Senator Thomas C. (Tim) Owens, Vice-chairperson Senator David Haley Senator John Vratil Representative Melody McCray-Miller Representative Michael O'Neal

Staff Present

Jerry Donaldson, Kansas Legislative Research Department Athena Andaya, Kansas Legislative Research Department Sean Ostrow, Office of the Revisor of Statutes Jason Thompson, Office of the Revisor of Statutes Pat Matzek, Committee Assistant

Others Attending

Patti Biggs, Kansas Parole Board
Robert Sanders, Kansas Parole Board
Tom Sawyer, Kansas Parole Board
Roger Werholtz, Secretary, Kansas Department of Corrections
Linden Appel, Chief Counsel, Kansas Department of Corrections
Liz Rice, Administrator, Kansas Department of Corrections
Teri Canfield, Attorney General's Office, and Kansas Parole Board
Tim Carpenter, Topeka Capital Journal
Eric Aufdengarten, Attorney General's Office, and Kansas Parole Board
Kim Lynch, Attorney General's Office, and Kansas Parole Board

Morning Session

The meeting was called to order by Chairperson Pat Colloton at 10:10 a.m. Chairperson Colloton acknowledged Committee members as being present and a motion would be forthcoming to go into closed executive session.

A memorandum from the Parole Board was distributed identifying the number of illegal aliens in the prison system (Attachment 1). Chairperson Colloton further commented that one of the policy issues raised is whether an illegal alien be deported by Immigrations and Customs Enforcement (ICE), if possible. Senator Vratil stated the memorandum only indicates from which country they claim nationality, so they are not necessarily illegal aliens, because they could be in the United States legitimately. Secretary of Corrections Werholtz advised it is the responsibility of ICE to determine the nationality and status of each individual.

Also distributed was information regarding Kansas Parole Board Case Summaries (<u>Attachment 2</u>) from the Assistant Attorney General's office, outlining a list of all state district court lawsuits in which the Kansas Parole Board or its members have been served and all cases requiring briefing to a state appellate court since that time.

Chairperson Colloton stated what the Committee would be working under is a statute that creates a selection by the Secretary of Corrections of 30 random cases: 15 related to situations in which the person has not been released from prison, and the other 15 related to randomly selected cases in which the person was released from prison but has been sent back to prison from parole.

Senator Vratil moved that the open meeting of the Joint Committee on Parole Board Oversight be recessed for a closed, executive session pursuant to subsection (b)(5) of KSA 2009 Supp. 75-4319 and KSA 2009 Supp. 46-3801 for the purpose of discussing matters relating to actions adversely or favorably affecting a person as a resident of a public institution, specifically, inmates of a correctional institution, to examine certain confidential records relating to specific inmates and to protect the privacy interest of each inmate who will be discussed. Senator Vratil further moved that the Joint Committee on Parole Board Oversight resume the open meeting in Room 446-N of the Statehouse at 11:55 a.m., and that this motion, if adopted, be recorded in the minutes of the Joint Committee on Parole Board Oversight and be maintained as part of the permanent records of the Joint Committee on Parole Board Oversight. Representative McCray-Miller seconded the motion. The motion carried.

The meeting was adjourned at 11:55 a.m.

Afternoon Session

At 1:30 p.m., Senator Vratil moved that the open meeting of the Joint Committee on Parole Board Oversight be recessed for a closed, executive session pursuant to subsection (b)(5) of KSA 2009 Supp. 75-4319 and KSA 2009 Supp. 46-3801 for the purpose of discussing matters relating to actions adversely or favorably affecting a person as a resident of a public institution, specifically, inmates of a correctional institution, to examine certain confidential records relating to specific inmates and to protect the privacy interest of each inmate who will be discussed. Senator Vratil further moved that the Joint Committee on Parole Board Oversight resume the open meeting in Room 446-N of the Statehouse at 2:30 p.m., and that this motion, if adopted, be recorded in the minutes of the Joint Committee on Parole Board Oversight and be maintained as part of the permanent records of the Joint Committee on Parole Board Oversight. Representative O'Neal seconded the motion. The motion carried.

Representative Owens is on record opposing the closed session and voting "no" on the motion.

The open meeting reconvened at 2:30 p.m.

Patti Biggs, Kansas Parole Board, presented issues and recommendations on Parole Board policies (<u>Attachment 3</u>) for potential future directions of which the Joint Committee on Parole Board Oversight will give a report to the Legislature of their recommendations, and possibly vote on issues to be included in the final report.

Final Violation Hearings:
Offenders' Due Process Rights, Incapability of Self-representation, Availability of Counsel.

Parole Board Request: Legislative study, funding stream, and requirement.

Committee recommendation:

Senator Vratil made a motion that our report reflect a recommendation from the Committee that the Legislature either increase funding for Board of Indigent Defense (BID) and require BID to provide defense counsel for the parolee in question, or, in the alternative, that the county of origin be required to provide funding for legal counsel for the parole violator. Senator Haley seconded the motion. Senator Owens objected to the wording stating to put something in as an alternative to send it to the counties, given the nature of things sounded like a minority report from the Committee and was not appropriate. The motion was restated. Senator Vratil made a motion the Committee recommends that sufficient funding be provided to BID and that BID be required to provide legal counsel to alleged parole violators who are determined to be in need. A proposal was made to require the county of origin to provide counsel. Senator Haley seconded the motion. The motion carried.

Off-Grid Sentences, Pre-sentence Investigation.

Parole Board Request: Modification so that an apparent contradiction is eliminated.

Committee recommendation:

Senator Vratil made a motion the Committee recommend that when a presentencing investigation is done for an offender sentenced or about to be sentenced to an off-grid term, the pre-sentencing investigation include a social history. Senator Vratil added the following modification to the motion: And at the time of sentencing of that off-grid offender, the social history information will not be available to the judge. Senator Haley seconded the motion. The motion carried.

Offenders with Combined Indeterminate and Determinate Terms.

Parole Board Request: Review reconciliation so that parole suitability determination be determined at the conclusion of the combined term of the indeterminate and determinate sentences, rather than the current mid-sentence location.

Committee recommendation:

Senator Owens made a motion that when an indeterminate sentence is in conjunction with a determinate sentence that the determinate sentence be incorporated within the indeterminate sentence for the purpose of parole consideration. Senator Vratil seconded the motion. The motion carried.

Multidisciplinary Team ("MDT") Review for Civil Commitment for Sexually Violent Predators.

Parole Board Request: Allow for the MDT review process to occur 180 days prior to a work release placement for offenders under parole suitability determination.

Committee recommendation:

Senator Owens made a motion to recommend a request to allow the MDT review process to occur 180 days prior to a work release placement for offenders under parole suitability determination. Representative McCray-Miller seconded the motion. The motion carried.

Habitual Criminal Act

Parole Board Request: Initiate a statutory change regarding offenders sentenced pursuant to the Habitual Criminal Act and subject to release under Parole Board suitability determination. This measure could be by review or modification from the Court.

Committee recommendation:

Chairperson Colloton made a motion for a resolution that would propose legislation that would reduce the ten-year pass to a five-year pass and require review within 24 months of previous cases that are on a ten-year pass subject to rules and regulations governing review of those cases. Senator Owens seconded the motion. The motion carried.

Application of Proportionality - Sentenced to Off-Grid Terms

Parole Board Request: Submit language clarifying the statute's application to those sentenced for offenses committed prior to July 1, 1993.

Parole Board Request: Include other areas of guidance, i.e., revocation, current guidelines, or any other areas viewed as inconsistent with intent.

• Committee recommendation:

Senator Owens made a motion to add a sentence that the guideline to be used is the one most recently adopted for that particular crime and off-grids are part of the guidelines. Representative McCray-Miller seconded the motion. <u>The motion carried.</u>

Early Discharge from Post-Incarceration Supervision

Parole Board Request: Submit combining provisions regarding early discharge from post-incarceration supervision be contained in one statutory location.

Parole Board Request: Submit for the indeterminate sentences that the "one year from release" be specified or that the provision allow for release, regardless of duration of most recent release, upon review of file.

Committee recommendation:

Senator Vratil made a motion to consider a bill that would combine the statutes and in the provision now under KSA 22-3717 (d)(1) (d)(4) for calculation of the presumptive term of post-release supervision after which time early discharge could be received; available good time credit should be applied to the presumptive term. In the KSA 22-3722 statute that refers to "after one year of release," suggest striking that wording. Representative O'Neal seconded the motion. The motion carried.

Special Conditions of Post-Incarceration Supervision

Parole Board Request: Reconsider that the conditions are to be in line with evidence-based principles of offender case management.

Committee recommendation:

Senator Owens made a motion to consider that under certain circumstances, supervision conditions of the Board shall impose a requirement that conditions shall be in line with evidence-based principles of offender case management that the Rules and Regulations Authority determine what can be changed, but non-statutorily. Senator O'Neal seconded the motion. The motion carried.

Annual File Reviews

Parole Board Request: Either support increased costs and staffing to enable this task or, alternately, consider the task recognizing the scarcity of labor availability.

Committee recommendation:

Senator Owens made a motion recommending that the Parole Board review whether there are particular statutes like the Habitual Criminal Act that might be considered for earlier review than currently provided for offenders who are sentenced to long sentences under alternative provisions similar to the Habitual Criminal Act, but not limited to those statutes, and a parole hearing eligibility under each, and when the review by the Parole Board would first occur. Representative McCray-Miller seconded the motion. The motion carried.

Roger Werholtz, Secretary of Corrections, spoke about illegal aliens and furlough issues. Linden Appel, Chief Counsel, and Liz Rice, Administrator, from the Secretary of Corrections' office, were also in attendance.

Secretary Werholtz advised one piece of information not provided at the morning session, regarding illegal aliens, was that when ICE takes someone into custody that does not mean they remain incarcerated; in fact, they could be released to a community in the United States pending deportation and could be free until such time that they are deported. Secretary Werholtz further stated the convictions of murder, rape, manslaughter, among others, make the likelihood of finding a large number of candidates for release very small. Chairperson Colloton stated there would not be a recommendation on this issue.

Chairperson Colloton addressed the question of whether the Secretary has the ability to release inmates from prison, as stated in the furlough statute. Secretary Werholtz advised no inmates have been furloughed because he felt that if one of the inmates did something harmful, it could potentially do damage to other programs such as work release and pre-release.

Senator Haley made a motion that the Parole Board perform a cost benefit analysis of incarceration of individuals who have no time to be considered for parole, in contrast to the advantages of additional staff or Parole Board membership. Representative McCray-Miller seconded the motion. The motion carried.

The meeting was adjourned at 4:42 p.m.

Prepared by Pat Matzek Edited by Jerry Donaldson

Approved by Committee on:

April 23, 2010
(Date)